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BRUCE WAYNE WILLIAMS,


)








)
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)




  Applicant,

)
FINAL








)
DECISION AND ORDER



v.




)








)
AWCB CASE No. 
9218904

PATRICK ABOOD, dba,



)

KNIK SWEEPING COMPANY,


)
AWCB Decision No.98-0297









)





Employer,


)
Filed in Anchorage, Alaska








)
on December 1,1998



and




)









)

PROVIDENCE WASHINGTON INSURANCE,
)









)




Insurer,


)




  Defendants.

)

___________________________________)
 



We heard the employee's claim for retroactive classification of benefits as permanent total disability (PTD) benefits, a compensation rate adjustment, the setting aside of a Compromise and Release (C&R) agreement, medical benefits, transportation costs, penalties, interest, a finding of frivolous or unfair controversion, civil or criminal sanctions for employer fraud,  attorney fees, and legal costs in Anchorage, Alaska, on November 5-6, 1998.  Attorney Charles Coe represented the employee; and attorney Patricia Zobel represented the employer and insurer (henceforth "employer").  We closed the record at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES

1.  Is the employee entitled to PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180 from August 21, 1992, through March 23, 1998?


2.
Is the employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment under AS 23.30.220?


3.
Is the employee entitled to additional medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a) for treatment of his right leg, on or about November 21, 1997?


4.
Is the employee entitled to have his August 1, 1997 C&R set aside?


5.
Is the employee entitled to additional medical transportation cost reimbursement under 8 AAC 45.084?


6.
Is the employee entitled to additional penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) for late-paid medical benefits?


7.
Is the employee entitled to interest under 8 AAC 45.142 on late or underpaid benefits?


8. 
Did the employer unfairly or frivolously controvert the employee's claims under AS 23.30.155(d)&(o)?


9.
Do we have jurisdiction under AS 23.30.250(a) and AS 23.30.255 to award civil damages or make criminal sanctions against the employer for fraud?



10.
Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145?


CASE HISTORY AND SUMMARY OF THE RELEVANT EVIDENCE

The employee injured his left knee in a traffic accident while driving a street sweeper for the employer on August 21, 1992.  This accident gave rise to an extraordinarily contentious claim, with voluminous medical records, numerous disputes, and many pleadings.  The recitation of facts here is focused as much as possible on the specific issues litigated in the hearing of November 5-6, 1998.

 
Following the accident, the employee received emergency care for his knee, then came under the care of orthopedic surgeon Robert Gieringer, M.D., for his continuing symptoms.  The employee underwent repeated arthroscopic surgeries, including a patellectomy and reconstruction on January 20, 1994, in which Dr. Gieringer wired the patella.


The employer accepted the claim, providing medical benefits and temporary total disability (TTD) benefits at a compensation rate of $162.39 per week.  This rate was determined under the version of AS 23.30.220(a)(1) in effect at the time of the injury, based on the wage and tax records provided by the employee for 1990 ($5,133.00) and 1991 ($19,758.75), which yielded gross weekly earnings (GWE) of $249.00.


Dr. Gieringer found the employee medically stable on April 5, 1994, with an 18 percent whole person permanent partial impairment under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, third edition, (AMA Guides), and released the employee to return to his work.  The employer paid the employee a lump-sum of $21,098.60 in permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits on April 13, 1994.


The employee changed his attending physicians to chiropractor Woody Waldroup, D.C., and orthopedic surgeon David McGuire, M.D.  The patellar wire broke, and Dr. McGuire surgically removed the wire on or about May 9, 1995.  The employer reinstated TTD benefits effective May 9, 1995.  


The employee's knee pain persisted, and surgeon Harold Dunn, M.D., of the University of Utah performed a total knee replacement on March 5, 1997.  The employee underwent interdisciplinary physical rehabilitation and narcotics weaning at the University of Utah from March 1, 1997 to May 7, 1997. 


The employee was admitted to the Providence Hospital mental health unit on May 27, 1997 for suicidal ideation, and was released on June 9, 1997 by his treating psychiatrist, Cleve R. Shirey, M.D.  In the employee's discharge summary Dr. Shirey diagnosed major depression, pain disorder, Cannabis abuse, iatrogenic narcotic dependency, personality disorder not otherwise specified, several physical and psychosocial problems, and a global assessment of functioning (GAF) scale rating of 70.


On June 4, 1997, Carol Jacobsen, a rehabilitation nurse retained by the employer, arranged a teleconference between the University of Utah physicians; the employee's pain management treating physician, anesthesiologist Leon Chandler, M.D.; the employer's insurance adjuster; the employee's wife; and the parties' attorneys to coordinate narcotic pain management.  The parties and the medical providers agreed to wean the employee off narcotics as much as possible through a series of "blind" pain cocktail dosages.



The parties have been embroiled in a series of disputes concerning the employee's medical care during virtually the entire period of the claim.  The employee retained Darryl Jones, Esq., as his attorney for this claim.  On July 2, 1997 the parties signed a partial C&R, which was approved by the board on August 1, 1997.  The C&R identified disputes between the parties over medical travel expenses, prescription reimbursement, payment for a Jacuzzi, lounge chair, and sauna, penalties for bad faith controversion, and interest.  The C&R waived the employee's claims for medical benefits, travel expenses, penalties, interest, and frivolous controversion prior to July 1, 1997, in exchange for $9,000.00 to the employee and $1,150.00 for his reasonable attorney fees. 


At the same time as the partial C&R, the employee and his attorney signed a separate Release and Settlement Agreement for Issues of Bad Faith.  In this agreement the employee waived all claims of bad faith under statute or tort for the insurer's actions through July 2, 1997, in exchange for $11,500.00 to the employee and $1,350.00 for the employee's attorney fees.


On November 11, 1997, Dr. Dunn prescribed a home gym and physical therapy.  On December 19, 1997 the employer controverted the home gym as redundant, based on the prescription for physical therapy and the already-provided exercise bicycle and Jacuzzi.  The employer contacted Dr. Dunn, who indicated the employee should be transitioned from formal physical therapy to a home exercise regimen.  The employer subsequently provided the home gym and retained a physical therapist to instruct the employee in it's therapeutic use.


The employee was treated at the Central Peninsula General Hospital by Robert Ledda, M.D., on November 21, 1997, after falling on black ice and injuring his back, buttocks, and left knee.  However, a report addendum by Dr. Ledda refers to treatment of the injured, prosthetic "right" knee.  The employer received a bill for treatment of the right leg in the amount of $923.77, but received no medical record regarding the right leg until October 20, 1998, 16 days before the hearing.  The employer controverted the payment of this treatment of the right leg on January 28, 1998. 


On July 28, 1997, Dr. Dunn released the employee to vocational rehabilitation; and the employer requested reemployment benefits for the employee under AS 23.30.041.  Rehabilitation Specialist Robert Sullivan prepared an eligibility report dated February 24, 1998.  Mr. Sullivan recorded the employee's ten-year work history, as obtained from the employee.  The employee reported working as a Street-Sweeper Operator for the employer from 1990 through 1992, for $11.00 per hour.  The employee reported he had been incarcerated from 1985 through 1990.  He reported he worked as a Miner, Placer and Truck Driver, Light, for Valdez Creek Mining Co. from 1983-1985, for $12.00 per hour; and as a Rug Cleaner, Hand, for Service Master from 1976 to 1983, for $8.00 per hour.


In the February 24, 1998 report, Mr. Sullivan determined the employee met all the reemployment benefits eligibility criteria in AS 23.30.041.  Nevertheless, he recommended the reemployment benefit file be closed, based on two considerations.  The first was a letter from the employee, dated February 22, 1998, declining reemployment benefits but requesting $10,000.00 in lieu of training.  Mr Sullivan also recommended the reemployment benefits file be closed for psychological reasons, based on the February 20, 1998 response from treating psychiatrist Dr. Shirey that the employee was unable to be gainfully employed at this time.

 
In response to Mr. Sullivan's report and Dr. Shirey's restrictions of the employee from participating in any work, the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (RBA) closed the reemployment benefits file, and the employer changed from paying the employee TTD benefits to paying PTD benefits on March 24, 1998. 


The employee filed a workers' compensation claim form, requesting a variety of benefits, on March 31, 1998.  Through a series of prehearing conferences these issues were amended.  The Prehearing Conference Summary for the final conference, on October 21, 1998, listed the employee's claims as identified in the "Issues" section of this decision, above.  


 The Prehearing Conference Summary for October 21, 1998, identified Charles Coe, Esq., as the employee's attorney for purposes of the hearing on November 5-6, 1998.  Mr. Jones was listed as a witness concerning the C&R for the hearing.  The employee's wife, who had also filed an entry of appearance as a representative of the employee, was identified as a witness concerning medical bills and transportation costs for the hearing.  The employee was ordered to file and serve an affidavit of attorney fees by October 28, 1998, to allow the employer at least minimal time to respond to the claimed fees in its legal brief, which was due on the following day.    


At the hearing, the employee testified he had worked as a driver and mechanic for the employer from 1989 through the time of the accident in 1992.  He testified he worked full-time for the employer, and not as a seasonal worker.  He was laid off from one to one-and-a-half months in the winter, but was often recalled during the lay-off period.  He testified he worked 40-60 hours per week in the summers.  He was hired at 10.00 per hour, but within a few months his wages were raised to $12.00 per hour.


The employee testified his W-2 statements from the employer were wrong; that he was paid substantially more "under the table".  He testified the employer kept more than one bank account out of which he paid employees.  He testified he also worked for another business, the "filter business" for the employer.  He testified the employer sometimes paid him wages with checks marked for "reimbursement" for parts or fuel, and that the employer sometimes paid his wages with a check made out to the employee's girlfriend, "Roberta".


The employee testified he bought four mobile homes in 1991, and rented them.  He testified, and his tax records reflect, he made no profit on the rental of the trailers. 


The employee testified the employer's business was doing well at the time of the injury, and the employee intended to continue his work there.  He testified the employer tried to rehire him after the injury.  He testified the employer's street-sweeping contract with the state required the payment of Davis-Bacon wages, and that a fellow employee, Daniel LaPlante, filed a complaint over this with the state's Department of Labor.


The employee testified his injury in the Soldotna area on November 21, 1997 occurred when his knee buckled and he fell on the ice as he attempted to get out of his auto to inspect a wrecked vehicle.  He testified the physicians treated both legs at the Central Peninsula General Hospital.


He testified he often had to make a second trip to town to pick up pharmaceuticals if the physicians' new prescriptions could not be quickly filled.  He would sometimes wait, but he found it very uncomfortable. 


The employee testified he was under considerable economic pressure at the time of his C&R; that he lost his trailers, his "Harley", his Corvette, and his girlfriend as a result of the workers' compensation claim.  He testified he was taking a number of narcotic pain medications at the time of his C&R; that he and his pregnant wife had to move out of their house and live out of their car; he was depressed; he did not tell his attorney about all the medications he was taking; and he did not know what penalties and interest he was giving away.


The employer submitted copies of the employee's federal income tax returns, showing total wages of $5133.00 for 1990 and $19,759.00 for 1991.  The 1991 tax return reported a loss on the employee's trailer rentals.  The employer submitted the W-2 statement for the employee's work in 1992, showing $5,766.75 in wages.  


The employer also submitted a copy of the employee's unemployment benefits records for 1992 from the Alaska Employment Security Division.  These records showed the employee received unemployment compensation benefits from January 1, 1992 through April 11, 1992; received no benefits for approximately eight weeks; received unemployment compensation benefits for one week between June 14, 1992 through June 27, 1992; and received unemployment compensation benefits from June 28, 1992 through August 22, 1992.  The Employment Security Division records also show earnings for the employee that match his tax returns and the employer's W-2's from 1990 through 1992. 


Daniel Neisinger, the employee's father, testified he worked as a driver for the employer from 1989 through 1991, 10.5 to 11 months a year, 9 to 12 hours a day.  He testified his original W-2 from the employer for 1990 listed his earnings as $5,000.00 to $7,000.00, but that the employer issued a corrected W-2 showed earnings of $19,633.00.  He testified he could not find any of his records, but believes he has them in storage.


The employer submitted to us a copy of Mr. Neisinger's Employment Security Division records for the fourth quarter of 1987 through the fourth quarter of 1993.  These records show taxable earnings from the employer for only the third quarter of 1991 during that period, in the amount of $3,093.75.  The records show him working full time for Spenard Builders Supply during the entire year of 1992.


Daniel LaPLante testified he worked for the employer only in 1992.  He testified he did not file a Department of Labor Complaint.  He was not aware of any problems concerning the reporting of his wages to the Internal Revenue Service.


William C. Mowl, the Anchorage district supervisor of highways for the Alaska Department of Transportation testified in his deposition that sweeping contracts for state roads do not require the payment of Davis-Bacon wages.  (Mowl dep. at 6-9.)  He testified Pat Booth and Pat Abood are two different people, with two separate sweeping companies (and Mr. Booth is not an alias for Mr. Abood).  (Id. at 10.)  He also testified the employer has only one company of which he is aware.  (Id. at 22.)


Theodore Sherwin, C.P.A., testified he was retained by the employer to handle the business and tax records from approximately 1989 to 1993 or 1994.  He testified he prepared all employees' W-2 forms from the paychecks and the time cards the employees prepared.  He testified he destroys all copies of his records after four or five years.


Fleet Truman, Wage and Hour Investigator for the Alaska Department of Labor testified he investigated the employer in summer 1990 for allegations he was classing workers as independent contractors, when they should have been classed as employees.  He testified the employer voluntarily reclassified the workers as employees, and had a self-audit performed.  The employer was found to owe no net wages to his employees, but did have to pay some taxes.


The employer, Patrick Abood, testified the employee's W-2's reflect all of his earnings.  His employees completed time cards, which were turned over to the accountant, along with all check stubs and payroll records.  He testified his company's work is essentially seasonal, the work is concentrated from April to June each year.  He does not keep his payroll records as far back as the date of the employee's injury.  He testified he has operated only this business for about two decades.  


The employer testified he does not believe he had any contracts involving Davis-Bacon wage requirements during the years the employee worked for him.  He testified his employees worked on an hourly basis, and most of his employees earned only a few thousand dollars a year from his company.  In 1991, he testified, his company had contract work related to the Valdez oil spill cleanup.  He had substantially more work to offer his employees that year.  He believes the oil-spill-related work resulted in the employee's higher earnings that year, as reported on the W-2.   


The employer testified he could not specifically remember, but the employee could have done some yard work for him.  He would have paid the employee separately, not from the business funds.  He testified the employee may have been paid some checks in reimbursement for gasoline or parts, and those checks would have been accounted for as business expenses.  The employer does recall making out one paycheck to the employee's girlfriend, at the employee's request, because the employee had no identification documents with him and wanted to cash the check.


At the hearing, Dr. Chandler testified he has treated the employee since 1994.  He testified the employee has undergone nine knee surgeries, suffered an iatrogenic infection which damaged the knee joint, and now suffers from a Complex Regional Pain Syndrome, Type 1 & 2.  He is treating the employee with narcotics and anti-inflamatories.  After the employee's knee replacement, Dr. Chandler participated in the narcotic management teleconference on June 4, 1997.  His care plan of June 12, 1998 indicated the employee suffered from borderline personality disorder, depression, and opiate dependence.  Dr. Chandler testified that, as a result of the teleconference, he put the employee on a blind narcotic cocktail, gradually lowering the employee's narcotic dosages until April 1998.  Since then, Dr. Chandler has simply prescribed the specific pain medications.  


In response to specific questions, Dr. Chandler testified only three pharmacies in the Anchorage area are able to prepare the narcotic cocktail compounds, and that it may take an hour or two from the receipt of the prescription to prepare the medication.  Dr. Chandler testified that he regarded nurse Jacobsen as part of the employee's care-planning team.  He also regarded attorney Jones as part of that team.  He testified he does not know if the employee has injured his right leg.  Dr. Chandler testified the employee had long been taking narcotics, and was able to exercise functional decision-making at the time of his C&R.


Dr. Shirey testified he had been treating the employee since 1996, seeing him one to two times a month.  He indicated the employee is completely focused on pain and his workers' compensation claim, and suffers from depression with psychotic features.  He testified he coordinates his prescription of psychotropic drugs with Dr. Chandler's prescription of narcotics.  He testified he has had difficulty in getting his bills paid by the employer.  He generally sends his prescriptions for the employee to the Geneva Woods pharmacy.


He testified the employee made significant progress while hospitalized from May 27, 1997 through June 9, 1997, especially following the June 4, 1998 teleconference organized by nurse Jacobsen.  He released the employee from the hospital, prescribing Effexor, Zyprexa, OxyContin LA, Prilosec, Propolsid, Synthroid, Flexeril, and Percocet.  Dr. Shirey testified the employee's functioning level at discharge was 70 on the GAF scale.  He testified the employee would be generally competent as long as he was functioning higher than 45 on the scale.  He testified the employee was ready to make decisions regarding his workers' compensation claim at that time.


In response to questioning by the parties, Dr. Shirey testified the employee complained of attorney Jones, and sometimes wanted to fire him.  He testified that February 20, 1998 was the first report in which he found the employee unable to participate in reemployment benefits.  He also testified the employee was medically stable in February 1998. 


The employee's wife testified she had prepared a ten-page spreadsheet of 339 itemized medical benefits received by the employee, listing the date the billing was received by the insurer, the date paid, the amount billed, and the amount paid.  Based on her understanding of when the law required the bills to be paid, and based on her understanding of the required "usual, customary, and reasonable" rate of payment, she calculated a penalty on each of those medical procedures.  She calculated a total late payment penalty under AS 23.30.155(e)of $99,765.40 on medical benefits.


We questioned her about her understanding of how the usual, customary, and reasonable medical fee payment schedule is determined under AS 23.30.095(c) by Medicode Co., under contract with the Alaska Department of Labor.  She indicated the medical fee schedule book is virtually unintelligible, and no-one at the Workers' Compensation Division offices seems to understand the charts, but that she knows the insurer is required to pay the medical provider at the "90th percentile". When we asked a hypothetical question about a $100.00 medical bill, she explained that payment at the 90th percentile would require payment of $90.00. 


The employee's wife testified the Alaska Division of Insurance had investigated the insurer, and found the insurer intentionally delayed payment of medical bills 22 times.  She did not indicate what bills were found to be intentionally paid late.  She offered no documentation of this investigation, nor is there any evidence of such an investigation or finding in our record of this case.


The employee's wife also testified she prepared a spread sheet of medical-related travel reimbursement costs after the C&R, from August 25, 1997 through August 27, 1998.  She calculates a total of 2,830 miles, with a transportation reimbursement amount which she calculates to be $1,027.20.  She testified she determined the mileage for these trips by using her automobile odometer.  She also testified the employee often had to make more than one trip per day for multiple appointments or delayed prescriptions.


She testified the employee did injure his right leg in November 1997, and several other times as well.  She confirmed she witnessed the employee's left leg give out on him in the November injury.


She testified the employee was under pressure when he signed the C&R: they had arranged an unlisted telephone number and a post office box to divert bill collectors.  They were broke at the time, and had rented out their home.  She testified the employee and attorney Jones were not getting along at the time of the C&R, that the employee was not thinking clearly, and that he was "freaked out".  She testified she helped the employee read over the proposed C&R, but that they did not know what they were giving up.  Under cross-examination, she testified the employee continued to receive TTD benefits during the time of the C&R negotiations and signing.


The employee's wife testified the employee hired attorney Jones because the employer repeatedly controverted benefits, and that he had helped them obtain continuing medical care.  She testified she prepared attorney Jones' affidavit of attorney fees from the records he supplied to her.  


Attorney Darryl Jones testified the employee began to consult with him in 1992, because the employer was issuing a "litany of controversions".  He testified concerning all the issues in dispute, asserting the employer did virtually nothing voluntarily, but had to be constantly pressured.  He also testified the employee and his wife were "difficult clients", probably contacting him thousands of times during the claim.


He testified the employee was stressed during the time of the C&R, that he was under financial hardship, and that the employee was "out there" mentally.  He testified he explained the C&R to the employee and the employee was adamant that they proceed with the C&R.  He testified he received the medical summaries for the case, but was "out of the loop" on some of the medical information.  Under cross-examination the attorney testified he requested some changes in the C&R, and reviewed all the changes.  He testified he read, understood and signed both the C&R and the bad faith release agreement.   


Attorney Jones testified he had the employee's wife prepare the affidavit of his attorney fees, which he signed on August 28, 1998.  In this he claimed to have expended 274.1 hours on this case, at a rate of $150.00 per hour, for a total of $41,115.00.  He testified he subsequently noticed she had omitted hours, so he prepared a corrected affidavit of attorney fees, which he signed, filed, and served on November 4, 1998.  In this affidavit, he claimed to have expended 491.1 hours in the prosecution of the case, and claimed a fee of $73,665.00.  


We permitted him to supplement his affidavit orally at the hearing.  He claimed to have expended another 26 hours before the hearing, plus attending the hearing day on November 5, 1998 (seven hours) and the morning of the hearing on November 6, 1998 (three hours).  He subsequently filed an affidavit of attorney fees on November 9, 1998, claiming a total of 34.5 hours from October 29, 1998 through November 6, 1998.


The employer objected to our consideration of the November 4, 1998 affidavit of attorney fees, and requested it be stricken from the record as untimely and in violation of the prehearing conference order.  Because the affidavit had been filed only the day before the hearing, it objected there was not adequate time to evaluate the claimed hours and fees.  Attorney Jones argued his November 4, 1998 affidavit simply corrects the actual time and fee's expended, and the employer cannot prevent the payment for reasonably expended time.  We told the parties we would decide this objection in the course of our deliberations deciding the merits of the case, after the hearing.   


Christine Preston, Senior Claims Examiner for the insurer, testified she has adjusted this claim since December 4, 1996.  She testified the employee's compensation rate is based on the earnings he reported for 1990 and 1991.  The rate has not been adjusted because no additional documentation or other specific evidence of additional earnings has ever been received.  She testified the insurer recharacterized the April 13, 1994 lump-sum payment of $21,098.60 in PPI benefits to TTD benefits when the employee needed additional surgery on May 9, 1995. This created an overpayment of $11,842.37, which the employer has never recouped but still considers due for repayment.  She testified the employer began to pay PTD benefits when Dr. Shirey reported he was unable to participate in reemployment benefits.   


Ms. Preston testified she was unaware of any hesitancy by the employee at the time of his C&R.  She testified the employer voluntarily paid $1,877.64 in penalties for late medical payments since the C&R.  She testified the remainder of the delayed payments occurred because either the medical records or some of the information required for the Physician Report form #07-6102 (such as a tax identification number) had not been submitted with the bill, and the insurer was trying to secure the missing information.  She testified the medical benefits provided in this claim as of the hearing totaled $389,436.69. 


Ms. Preston testified about the medical rationale for each of the employer's controversions.  Concerning those controversions after the C&R, she testified the employer controverted the employee's November 21, 1997 treatment in the Central Peninsula General Hospital on January 28, 1998, because the employee's work injury had been to the left leg, not the right leg.  No medical report on this treatment were received until October 20, 1998.  


She also testified the employer controverted the home gym for physical therapy on December 19, 1997 because the same doctor was simultaneously, inconsistently, prescribing formal physical therapy in a clinic.  She requested Ms. Jacobsen to contact the doctor directly, to determine what should be done.  Dr. Dunn indicated he wanted the employee transferred to a home exercise regimen, and the employer complied with the doctor's directions. 


Ms. Preston testified the employer had declined to pay for duplicate or triplicate trips to Anchorage in any one day, but had reimbursed the longest trip of each day, at first using the employee's reported mileage, then using the miles calculated by an investigator.  Since the C&R, the employer has reimbursed three groups of trips, in batches as requested by the employee.  It paid $764.46 for the period January 7, 1997 through August 19, 1997; $$764.46 (plus a $26.89 adjustment) for the period August 25, 1997 through January 23, 1998; and $689.22 for the period January 23, 1998 through July 28, 1998.  


George Klim testified he adjusted this case for several years from its inception.  He testified he determined the employee's compensation rate based on his W-2's for 1990 and 1991, and that the employee provided no additional evidence of earnings.  He testified the employee had relatively recently gotten out of prison, so he had little recent work history to consider.


Mr. Klim testified medical benefits were paid by the insurer based on the usual, customary, and reasonable fee schedule adopted by the board.  He identified Alaska Workers' Compensation Board Bulletin No. 90-10 (November 30, 1990), in which the board authorized Medical Data Research, Inc. (MDR) to develop the medical fee schedule.  He also identified Bulletin No. 97-08 (December 10, 1997) which changed the board's authorization to develop the medical fee schedule, from MDR to Medicode.


When cross-examined by the employee concerning why he had the employee monitored by private investigator Jerry Dorch, Mr. Klim testified the employee had been in prison on drug charges.  Given that history, Mr. Klim testified he was concerned over the employee's receipt and use of narcotics. 


Carol Jacobsen testified she is a registered nurse and a rehabilitation specialist, and the proprietor of Northern Rehabilitation Services.  She testified she was retained by the employer in December of 1996 to provide medical management services for this case.  She testified to the history of her coordination of services in this case.  She testified the employee was doing well with his physical therapy at the time of his C&R.  


Ms. Jacobsen testified she normally had nothing to do with decisions concerning controversions, but in the controversion of the home physical therapy gym, adjuster Preston had consulted her because there was no medical explanation provided with Dr. Dunn's prescription for both formal, clinically supervised physical therapy, as well as a home gym for physical therapy.  At the adjuster's request, she consulted with Dr. Dunn, determined his intent, and arranged the home training for physical therapy he suggested. 


Private investigator David Kaiser testified he had been retained by the insurer to determine the driving distances between the employee's residence and various clinics and pharmacies.  He testified he used a low-milage vehicle to measure the distances, and they all came out somewhat less than that measured by the employee's wife.  The records indicated the employer used Mr. Kaiser's measurements for reimbursing the mileage in the last check.  
Mr. Kaiser had not measured the distance to the physical therapist's office on O'Malley, but estimated it to be about 60 miles, round trip, as opposed to the 100 miles claimed by the employee.  The employee's wife testified in rebuttal that Mr. Kaiser had measured the distance to the wrong Geneva Woods pharmacy.


The employee's attorney, Charles Coe, submitted an affidavit of attorney fees and a supplemental affidavit in accord with 8 AAC 45.180.  He itemized 39.2 hours of work expended on the case, claiming a fee of $175.00 per hour, for a total of $12,092.  He itemizes costs of $570.00.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS


At the hearing and in his brief, the employee argued his injury was severe and permanently totally disabling, and he should have been paid PTD benefits from the beginning.  Because the employee's lump-sum PPI benefits were erroneously paid and converted into TTD benefits, the PTD offset provision of AS 23.30.180(b) should not apply, and the employer should not be permitted to recoup those benefits as an overpayment.  He argues any overpayment offset should be restricted to an offset of additional, future PPI benefits.  The employee argues the Central Peninsula Hospital bill should be paid, regardless of which leg was treated as a result of his left leg buckling. He also argues PTD awarded for the time between the PPI payment and the reinstitution of the TTD benefits will be paid late, and penalties and interest will be due.


Since the employee testified he did more work than his records reflect, and the employer admits he may have done some additional work, at least around the employer's house, the most reasonable compensation rate would be based on him working full time for his rate of pay, $12.00 per hour, for a gross weekly earning of $480.00.  Alternatively, he argues the rent from his trailers (without any deductions for depreciation, etc.) should be included in his wages.  He additionally argues in his brief that he worked for several businesses owned by the employer, but operating under different company names.


He also argues that we should consider using the present version of AS 23.30.220, based on the highest 13-week period of earnings from the 52 weeks before his injury.  In his brief he argued his employer's contract with the state required the payment of Davis-Bacon wages, and that rate should be used.  The employee contends we should apply the Alaska Supreme Court decision in  Gilmore v. The Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 882 P.2d 992 (Alaska 1994), and determine a "fair wage" for the employee.


He argues he is due penalties and interest on all late and underpaid medical bills, and urges us to use the medical bill spread sheet prepared by the employee's wife to determine them.  He points out that, even when completed medical reports had not been submitted to the employer's insurer under 8 AAC 45.082(d), the employer failed to give the employee written notice under 8 AAC 45.082(d)(1) of its refusal to pay the bill within 14 days.  He contends we have no proof the employer is actually paying those bills according the usual, customary, and reasonable medical fees as set out in the Medicode schedule; and he urges us to exercise our investigative powers to require an audit of the insurer.  He argues the employer has provided no proof it has paid interest on any late benefits.


He argues the employer's refusal to pay all the medical-treatment-related mileage is unreasonable.  He contends that if the employee is required to wait in town for unreasonable lengths of time, the employer is responsible to provide meals and lodging under 8 AAC 45.084(e). 


He argues the employer systematically controverted benefits without supporting medical evidence, asking questions after the fact.  He requests a penalty, and asks that we refer this case to the Division of Insurance with a finding of frivolous and unfair controversions. 


The employee argues he was under emotional and financial duress at the time he signed the C&R.  He argues he misunderstood how much he was giving up by agreeing.  He contends he was under the influence of mind-altering medications, and his attorney was not aware of this.  He asserts the simplest solution is to set aside the C&R.  He additionally argues the C&R did not specifically mention the various benefits he now claims, and should not be interpreted to bar those claims arising before July 1, 1997.


The employee argues he should be able to proceed before us on claims for criminal and civil remedies against the employer for fraud, duress, and misrepresentation under AS 23,30,250(a) and AS 23.30.255.  If we determine we lack jurisdiction to impose remedies ourselves, we should refer the case to the appropriate jurisdiction.  


The employee argues we should accept the late, corrected affidavit of attorney fees from attorney Jones, recognizing substance over form.  The employee requests we award his legal costs; and award both of his attorneys their full, reasonable attorney fees.  


The employer argued in the hearing, and in its brief, that an employee is not entitled to PTD benefits until a physician determines he or she is unemployable.  It cites our decisions in Olsen v. H.C. Price, AWCB Decision No. 94-0265 (October 20, 1994) and Robles v. Providence Hospital, AWCB Decision No. 94-0062 (March 21, 1994).  The employer contends the employee is not entitled to PTD benefits before Dr. Shirey found him unable to work, or to participate in reemployment benefits. 


The employer argues the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee earned exactly the wages reported on his W-2 forms; the same wages that he reported to his adjuster, Mr. Klim, and to the federal government in his tax returns.  It contends the compensation rate is clear under the statute, and it fairly represents his earning history.  The employer again asserts a right to recoup the PPI benefits paid in excess of the TTD retroactively determine due.


The employer argues the employee has not shown sufficient grounds to set aside the C&R.  Although the employee contends he misunderstood the terms and consequences of the C&R, and was under duress, the employer cites the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Olsen Logging v. Lawson, 856 P.2d 1155 (Alaska 1993),  which found an employee with weak mental capacity, suffering from a misunderstanding as well as financial duress, could not overturn a C&R on those grounds.  The employer points out that in Blanas v. Bower, AWCB Decision No. 97-0252 (December 9, 1997), we held that financial distress is not fraud or duress if it does not result from improper actions by the employer.  


Although the employee claims he was not competent because he was under the influence of drugs, the employer points out that both of the employee's treating physicians testified unequivocally to the employee's mental competence at the time of the C&R.  It notes that both the employee and attorney Jones signed the bad faith release agreement, stating the employee was not under the influence of drugs.  It argues the C&R must stand, and it bars all of the employee's claims before July 1, 1997, except for possible claims for time-loss benefits.


The employer points out there were only two controversions after the C&R, and both were supported by reasonable medical evidence.  It contends no penalties, interest, or findings of frivolous controversion are due.  It contends the Central Peninsula Hospital bill is not due, whether the treatment was for the left or right leg, since the injury was not caused by his work accident or its aftermath.  It notes the medical record specifically reports the employee to have slipped on the black ice, not to have fallen as a result of his knee giving way.


The employer contends no late payment penalties are due on those benefits in which the medical provider failed to timely submit a medical report, as required by 8 AAC 45.086(a) and (b).  It points out that we have ruled in past cases that if a medical provider fails to timely supply the required report, the medical benefit is not due until we excuse the late reporting under 8 AAC 45.085(b).  It cites our decisions In Carney v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Co., AWCB Decision No. 94-0044 (March 3, 1994), and Kuehn v. Omega Pizza, AWCB Decision No. 90-0313 (December 31, 1990).


The employer argues the employee's travel distances are somewhat exaggerated, and his claim for multiple trips in any single day is unreasonable.  It claims it has paid the medical travel expense in full.


It notes that, if any interest is due in this case, it should be due to the medical provider, not the employee.  It cites our decision in Manning v. Satellite Systems Unlimited, AWCB Decision No. 96-0291 (July 17, 1996).


The employer argues we have no jurisdiction over actions under AS 23.30.250, because they are criminal proceedings, outside of our administrative civil jurisdiction.  It cites Christie v. Rainbow King Lodge, AWCB Decision No. 94-0114 (May 12, 1994); Beaudry v. State, AWCB Decision No. 94-0290 (November 17, 1994); State v. O'Neill Investigations, Inc., 609 P.2d 520, 525 (Alaska 1980).  The employer argues AS 23.30.255 applies to employers which fail to secure required workers' compensation insurance, or self-insurance approval, and is inapplicable to this case.


The employer argues the November 4, 1998 affidavit of attorney fees by attorney Jones is late, in violation of the prehearing conference order and the regulations, and it should be stricken.  It contends attorney Jones is a professional, and should be held to professional standards.  


The employer contends this attorney did little to assist the progress of the case.  It argues the multitude of impasses in this case were actually resolved by the employer's agents, such as nurse Jacobsen.  It notes that attorney Jones has already received fees for his work on the disputes up to the time of the C&R.   


The employer contends attorney Jones' affidavit of fees, signed on October 28, 1998, is undecipherable and incredible.  The employer asserts the dates are scrambled, the entries are often unintelligible, many entries are not related to disputes in this case, many entries appear to refer to activities by the employee or his wife, and it even contains some entries recording work by the opposing counsel. It contends this attorney is entitled to no more than statutory minimum fees on any benefits we award. 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


I.
PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.180 provides, in part:  "PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY. In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 per cent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability. . . .  [P]ermanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts."  AS 23.30.120 provides, in part:  "PRESUMPTIONS. (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."


In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  "[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


In this case, the employee is claiming PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180.  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276 (Alaska 1996), that the presumption of compensability applies to claims for PTD benefits.  Id. at 1279-1280.  In the case under our consideration, the employee's treating physician, Dr. Shirey, testified he first determined the employee was unable to engage in gainful employment in a response to the employee's rehabilitation specialist on February 20, 1998.  As a result of this, the employee's rehabilitation specialist recommended the RBA close the employee's reemployment benefits file; the RBA did so; and the employer began paying PTD benefits (instead of TTD benefits) on March 24, 1998.  Considering this chain of events, in accord with the court's ruling in Meek, we find the presumption of compensability at AS 23.30.120(a) has attached to his claim for PTD benefits as of March 24, 1998.


Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the disability is not work-related, permanent, or total. See Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.  Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.  Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,  617 P.2d 755, 757 (Alaska 1980).  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."  Wolfer, 693 P.2d, at 869. 


There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work-related permanent total disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work-related, permanent, or total.  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  In our review of the record, we find no evidence showing the employee has not suffered permanent total disability since March 24, 1998.  We cannot find substantial evidence, rebutting the presumption that the disability is total and permanent.  We conclude he has been entitled to PTD since that date. 


The employee argues PTD benefits should have been initiated earlier, as early as the accident itself.  However, he points to no specific evidence to raise the presumption of compensability for PTD benefits at an earlier date.  In our review of the record, we can find no substantial evidence of the employee's permanent and total inability to work or to be rehabilitated,  until Dr. Shirey's opinion.  We cannot find the presumption of his entitlement to PTD benefits arose until Dr. Shirey restricted the employee from work and rehabilitation.  


Nevertheless, assuming the employee's bare assertion of his entitlement to PTD benefits from the time of his injury is substantial evidence, in itself, to raise the presumption of compensability for those benefits, we will consider and weigh the available evidence in the record of this case.


Before Dr. Shirey, no physician predicted the employee would be permanently unable to return to work or to seek reemployment benefits.  The employee's treating physician, Dr. Gieringer, specifically released the employee to return to his work on April 5, 1994; and another treating physician, Dr. Dunn, released him to seek retraining through reemployment benefits on July 28, 1997.  We find this is substantial evidence rebutting any presumption the employee was entitled to PTD benefits earlier than Dr. Shirey's restriction of the employee from reemployment benefits.  See Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.      


Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Wolfer, 693 P.2d, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 


Consequently, the employee must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he was permanently and totally disabled from work and vocational rehabilitation before Dr. Shirey placed those restrictions on him.  Considering the employee's history of improvement and worsening, surgery and recovery, and the lack of permanent vocational restriction by his treating physicians; and especially considering the release of the employee by Drs. Gieringer and Dunn; we find the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee was not permanently and totally disabled before the events of February and March of 1998.  We must conclude he is not entitled to recharacterize, as PTD benefits, those benefits received before March 28, 1998.


II.
COMPENSATION RATE ADJUSTMENT

A.
APPLICABLE LAW


At the time of the employee's injury, AS 23.30.220(a) provided in part:


The spendable weekly wage of an injured employee at the time of an injury is the basis for computing compensation.  It is the employee's gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions.  The gross weekly earnings shall be calculated as follows:



(1)
the gross weekly earnings are computed by dividing by 100 the gross earnings of the employee in the two calendar years immediately preceding the injury;



(2)
if the employee was absent from the labor market for 18 months or more of the two calendar years preceding the injury, the board shall determine the employee's gross weekly earnings for calculating compensation by considering the nature of the employee's work and work history, but compensation may not exceed the employee's gross weekly earnings at the time of injury; . . . .


Part of the employee's argument is that we should consider applying other versions of the statute, other than the one in effect at the time of the employee's injury and claim.  The employee cites no statutes, regulations, case law, or even learned treatises in support of this contention.  We find this argument has no basis in the law.  The statute cited above, enacted by the legislature and in effect at the time of the employee's injury and claim, is substantive governing law for this case.   


The Alaska Supreme court, in Gilmore v. The Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 882 P.2d 922, 929 (Alaska 1994), determined subsection 220(a)(1) in this version of the statute, may be unconstitutional as applied in certain circumstances.  We have interpreted this court decision to require us to determine whether the facts of each case cause an unfair application for an injured worker.  Beland v. Pioneer Door, AWCB Decision No. 95-0058 (March 2, 1995).  Accordingly, when applying this statute, we must consider the facts of this case to determine whether AS 23.30.220(a)(1) yields a result which does not fairly reflect the employee's future earnings loss.


The court's overwhelming concern in Gilmore was that the formula in subsection 220(a)(1) may, in some cases, lead to an unfair GWE determination.  The court stated in Gilmore:


We recognize that rigid application of the mechanical formula set out in AS 23.30.220(a)(1) probably leads to quick and predictable results.  This efficiency is gained, however, at the sacrifice of fairness in result.  The purpose of the Act, as expressed by the legislature, is to provide a "quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits."  The facts of the present case amply demonstrate the potential unfairness of a rigid application of the mechanical formula.  Under the section 220(a)(1) formula as applied by the Board, Gilmore received only the statutory minimum amount of compensation, despite his earning over seven and one-half times more per week at the time of injury.



Efficiency in this area does not require unfairness.  A quick, efficient, and predictable scheme for determining a worker's gross weekly earnings could be formulated without denying workers like Gilmore benefits commensurate with their actual losses. . . .  [A] formulaic system can be quick, efficient, predictable, and fair. . . .



The gross weekly wage determination method of AS 23.30.220(a) creates large differences in compensation between similarly situated workers, bears no relationship to the goal of accurately calculating an injured employee's lost wages for purposes of determining his or her compensation, is unfair to workers whose past history does not accurately reflects their future earning capacity, and is unnecessary to achieve quickness, efficiency, or predictability. . . .

Gilmore, 882 P.2d, at 928-930 (footnotes omitted).


In Gilmore, 882 P.2d, at 929-930, n.17, the court stated:


Since section 220(a) may be applied constitutionally in a number of circumstances, for example, where the injured worker has had the same occupation for all of the past two calendar years, and since it does not involve the First Amendment, section 220(a) is unconstitutional as applied. [emphasis added].


B.
APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE EVIDENCE


We have examined all the available evidence concerning the employee's past earnings, and expected earnings.  We note the record reflects the employee reported earnings to his adjuster, and to the Internal Revenue Service, identical to what his employer reported on his W-2 statements for 1990, 1991, and 1992.


The employee provided no documentation of any additional wages.  At the hearing, the employee testified he was paid "under the table" for most of his work with the employer, at least in 1990 and 1992, and that he actually worked full-time, nearly year-round during those years.  However, the employee's Employment Security Division records for 1992 (the only year available to us) show that the employee collected unemployment compensation benefits for roughly six of the eight months before his injury.  We are troubled by this contradiction; and we are troubled by the contradiction between the earnings the employee reported to us and what he reported to the Internal Revenue Service.  We find the employee is not credible.  AS 23.30.122.


Although Mr. Neisinger testified he worked full-time for the employer from 1989 through 1992, his Employment Security Division records show that other employers paid full-time work taxes for him during that entire period, except one quarter in 1991.  We cannot accord any substantial weight to Mr. Neisinger's testimony.  Based on the state's road sweeping contract language, and on the testimony of the employer and of Mr. Mowl,  we find Davis-Bacon wage requirements did not apply to the employee's work.  


Considering all the evidence available from the hearing testimony and from the documentary record, we find the preponderance of the evidence indicates the employee's earnings from the employer are accurately reflected on his W-2 forms.  Because the employee worked more than six months during the two calendar years before his injury, AS 23.30.220(a)(1) is the correct subsection of the statute to apply.  We find the employer accurate calculated the employee's GWE and compensation rate under this subsection.


We must next consider the employee's GWE and compensation rate in light of the court's ruling in Gilmore.  We note the court was concerned that AS 23.30.220(a)(1) could produce results that are manifestly unfair and inaccurate reflections of what an individual injured worker could reasonably be expected to earn during the period of his or her disability.  The court was also concerned that, in some cases, AS 23.30.220(a)(1)and (2) could produce widely differing results for two worker who were very similarly situated.



In this case, the employee clearly worked long enough during the two calendar before his injury to remove any question of the applicability of AS 23.30.220(a)(2), and of any possible disparity between the results of subsections (1) and (2).  Accordingly, we will consider only the "fairness" of applying AS 23.30.220(a)(1) to this case.


We find footnote 17 of the Gilmore decision sheds light on this case.  The employee's tax records, his Employment Security records, and his work history reported to the rehabilitation specialist, all show the employee's work for the employer during 1990 and 1991 was reasonably consistent with his wages and pattern of work for the decade leading up to his injury.  Additionally, in the hearing the employee testified he had intended to continue working for the employer at the time of his injury.  Based on the preponderance of the available evidence, we find AS 23.30.220(a)(1) fairly accounts for the employee's expected earnings.  


We find the employee has failed to provide sufficient evidence to support a compensation rate adjustment under AS 23.30.220 or Gilmore.  Rhule v. White River Cutting, AWCB Decision No. 90-0045 (March 14, 1990); Vonder Haar v. H. C. Price Co., AWCB Decision No. 98-0142 (June 5, 1998).  We conclude we must deny and dismiss his claim for a compensation rate adjustment.


III.
MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:


The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other 
attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, 
crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the 
injury or the process of recovery requires. . . .


In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a).  This presumption also applies to claims for continuing medical benefits.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2. 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under subsection 95(a).  See Weinberger v. Matanuska-Susitna School District, AWCB No. 810201 (July 15, 1981), aff'd 3AN-81-5623 (Alaska Superior Court June 30, 1982), aff'd Ireland Chiropractic Clinic v. Matanuska-Susitna School District, memorandum opinion and judgment, Op. No. 7033 (Alaska S. Ct. June 1, 1983).

  
The employee testified that his injured left knee buckled, resulting in a fall and necessitating medical treatment in the Central Peninsula General Hospital on November 21, 1997.  We find this evidence raises the presumption of compensability of the claimed medical treatment.

  
We have reviewed the medical records regarding this treatment, and we find that some of the records contain a clerical error, inadvertently referring to the right leg and knee, when the left is clearly intended.  We note that whether it was the left or right leg (or both) that was treated, the question before us is whether the fall on the ice was a consequence of the employee's work injury.  

    
Once the presumption attaches, the employer must produce substantial evidence showing the injury and treatment are not work-related.  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.  The employer argues the medical report refers to the employee slipping on the black ice, not falling because of a defective knee.  Considering the language from the report in isolation, we find it is substantial evidence rebutting the presumption.  Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


Once substantial evidence shows the disability is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Id.  Although we found the employee is not a credible witness, his wife was present during his fall, and she testified to his left knee buckling and resulting in the fall.  We find the testimony of the employee's wife credible and persuasive.  Based on the preponderance of the available evidence, we find the employee's work-injured knee caused the fall, necessitating the disputed medical treatment.  


We also note the medical record gave a full description of the injury and treatment, and the employer did not object to the reasonableness of the treatment itself.  We find the treatment was reasonable and necessary, considering the nature of his fall on the ice.  We must conclude the injury and its treatment are compensable under AS 23.30.095(a). 


IV.
SET ASIDE OF THE COMPROMISE AND RELEASE

AS 23.30.012 provides for our review of settlement agreements:


At any time after death, or after 30 days subsequent to the date of injury, the employer and the employee . . . have the right to reach an agreement in regard to a claim for injury . . . under this chapter . . . but a memorandum of the agreement in a form prescribed by the board shall be filed with the board.  Otherwise, the agreement is void for any purpose.  If approved by the board, the agreement is enforceable the same as an order or award of the board and discharges the liability of the employer for the compensation notwithstanding the provisions of AS 23.30.130, 23.30.160, and 23.30.245.  The agreement shall be approved by the board only when the terms conform to the provisions of this chapter and, if it involves or is likely to involve permanent disability, the board may require an impartial medical examination and a hearing in order to determine whether or not to approve the agreement.  The board may approve lump‑sum settlements when it appears to be in the best interest of the employee.  


For many years we considered ourselves to have inherent authority to set aside Compromise & Release agreements.  To determine whether a settlement agreement should be set aside, we used the standard for setting aside agreements in civil actions enunciated by the Court in Witt v. Watkins, 579 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1978).  A shadow was first cast on that practice by the Court in 1989.  On appeal of a decision declining to set aside a Compromise & Release using that standard, the Court noted that board‑approved releases are sometimes treated differently than simple releases of tort liability.  Clark v. Municipality of Anchorage, 777 P. 2d 1159, 1161 n. 3 (Alaska 1989).  However, the Court did not have to resolve that question in disposing of the appeal.


In Olsen Logging Co. v. Lawson, 856 P.2d 1155 (Alaska 1993), the court again addressed the question of whether we may set aside an approved C&R.  A panel had set aside an approved C&R, based on its findings that the employee lacked judgment and foresight due to a brain injury.  It also found the employee was disadvantaged by financial distress, was represented by an out‑of‑state attorney who might not be expert in Alaska workers' compensation law, and the amount of the lump‑sum settlement was insignificant compared to the potential liability.  Finally, the panel concluded that the parties to the claim had also made a mutual mistake of fact.


The court noted that under AS 23.30.012, approved settlement agreements "have the same legal effect as awards, except that they are more difficult to set aside." (Emphasis added).  Id. at 1158. The court held that the provision of §012, exempting approved C&R agreements from modification for changed conditions or mistakes of fact under §130, was an expression of legislative intent that approved settlement agreements may not be modified on those grounds.  The Court held that the panel had erred in setting aside the approved C&R.  The Court specifically referred to the panel's reliance on the grounds of unilateral and mutual mistake.  However, the Court also stated in a footnote:


Under Civil Rule 60(b) mistake is a basis for setting aside a final civil judgment.  This is subject to a one‑year limitation.  However, civil Rule 60(b) also adverts to the possibility of "an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment . . . ."  Not presented in this appeal is the question whether an independent action might be maintained to relieve a party of a Board approved settlement.

Id. at 1159 n.4.


Based on the Olsen decision, we find we do not have authority to set aside an agreed settlement under AS 23.30.130 for a mistake of fact.  Id., at 1159.  However, we have found authority to set aside an agreed settlement for fraud or duress in past cases.  Smith v. Commonwealth Electric Co., AWCB Decision No. 94-0141 at 8 (June 16, 1994) and Travers v. American Building Maintenance Co., AWCB Decision No. 94-0140 at 7-8 (June 16, 1994).  Klemme v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, AWCB Decision No. 96-471 (December 16, 1996).  Therefore, we will consider only the claims made by the employee that his signature on the C&R was obtained under duress or fraud by the employer.


We have determined "duress" in the context of a C&R to be hardship intentionally created by overreaching or improper interference by the employer to coerce the employee to sign.  Blanas v. The Brower Co., AWCB Decision No. 97-0252 (December 9, 1997).  We have determined "fraud" in the context of a C&R to be intentional misrepresentation which induces the employee to sign the C&R in reliance on that misrepresentation.  Id.  We have also determined the "clear and convincing" standard of proof is required to overturn a C&R for duress or fraud.  Id.;  Witt v. Watkins, 579 P.2d, at 1068-70.


The employee argues the C&R should be set aside because he was under emotional and financial duress at the time he signed the C&R.  He argues he misunderstood how much he was giving up by agreeing.  He contends he was under the influence of mind-altering medications, and his attorney was not aware of this. He additionally argues the C&R did not specifically mention the various benefits he now claims, and should not be interpreted to bar those claims before July 1, 1997.


As noted above, the C&R cannot be set aside for the employee's misunderstanding of the terms or the consequences of the agreement.  Olsen, 856 P.2d, at 1159.  Although the employee testified he was under the influence of mind-altering medications at the time of the C&R, both of his current treating physicians, Drs. Shirey and Chandler, testified unequivocally that he was competent at that time to decide issues related to his workers' compensation claim.  By the preponderance of the available evidence, we find the employee was mentally competent to sign the C&R.


Although some of the benefits now claimed were not specifically listed in the "dispute" section of the C&R, the "release" section of the C&R released all claims for benefits before July 1, 1997, for medical costs, prescription reimbursement, travel expenses penalties, interest, and frivolous or unfair controversion claims.  The disputes may have been fairly specific, but the release was more general.  By the plain terms of the C&R, we find all those benefits identified in the "release section" were settled and waived.  AS 23.30.012.


The employee offered no specific evidence of misrepresentation or fraud by the employer to coerce the employee to sign the C&R.  Based on our review of the case record, we find no evidence of misrepresentation or fraud by the employer in the settlement process.  


Although the employee and several of his witnesses testified he was under emotional and financial duress at the time he signed the C&R, "duress" in the context of a C&R must be hardship intentionally created by overreaching or improper interference by the employer to coerce the employee to sign.  Blanas, AWCB Decision No. 97-0252.  


The record is clear the parties were in dispute over a number of benefits at the time of the C&R.  However, based on the testimony of Ms. Preston, we find the employer had sufficient evidence to support a good-faith controversion or difference of opinion.  We additionally note the employer continuously paid TTD benefits to the employee during the time of the settlement, and continuing.  Based on the preponderance of the available evidence, we find the employer did not improperly create hardship, or overreach, with the intent to coerce the employee to sign the C&R.  
We find the employee has failed to prove by the preponderance of the evidence, much less by clear and convincing evidence, that the employer engaged in fraud or duress to coerce the employee to sign the C&R.  We conclude the partial C&R, signed on July 2, 1997 and approved on August 1, 1997, cannot be set aside.  Consequently, we must conclude the C&R bars the employee's claim for benefits before July 1, 1997, for: medical costs, prescription reimbursement, travel expenses, penalties, interest, and claims of frivolous or unfair controversions.      


V.
REIMBURSEMENT FOR MEDICAL TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES  


8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:  "Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives . . .  an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel."  In addition, 8 AAC 45.084(d) provides that transportation expenses are "reimbursed", and mileage is reimbursed at the state supervisory employee rate.  


There are two fundamental disputes between the parties over the reimbursement of medical-related travel expenses since July 1, 1997: multiple trips in one day, and the question of the actual mileage for the trips.  At one point there appears to have been a dispute between the parties over transportation cost requests for days in with the records indicate the appointments were cancelled.  The employee's wife testified the employee no longer seeks reimbursement of those trips.


The employee and his wife testified the employee often had multiple appointments, or medication pick-ups, in a single day.  They both testified the employee would simply wait for appointments reasonably close in time, but if appointments were too far apart in time, he would return home to soak in the Jacuzzi to recover before his next appointment.  The employer offered no specific evidence on this point, but argued that more than one trip to Anchorage per day is unreasonable.  


We find the employee's testimony and that of his wife is uncontradicted on this point.  We find the employee's wife credible.  AS 23.30.122.  By the preponderance of the available evidence, we find the employee's claimed multiple trips were reasonable and necessary for his medical care, and we will order them reimbursed.  


The employee's wife and private investigator Kaiser both testified to the travel mileage they independently clocked on their private vehicle odometers.  During the examination of Mr. Kaiser, it became clear that in at least a few instances, he either did not go to the medical provider's location or went to the wrong facility.  We find the employee's wife knows the exact route used and the exact destination facilities.  With one mileage exception, we are persuaded of the essential accuracy of employee's claimed distances, and we will order reimbursement to be made on those claimed distances, multiplied by the state's 1997 and 1998 supervisory employee mileage reimbursement rate, $.315 per mile.  Workers' Compensation Bulletin No. 97-06 (December 10, 1997), effective July 1, 1997.


The one exception is the disputed distance to the physical therapist office on O'Malley.  Mr. Kaiser had not measured the distance to that office, but estimated it to be about 60 miles, round trip, as opposed to the 100 miles claimed by the employee.  Our best judgment is that the employee's figure is inaccurate, and Mr. Kaiser's figure is an off-the-cuff estimate, with no guarantee of accuracy.  


For the sake of administrative simplicity and the convenience of the parties, we direct the attorneys from this hearing to file a stipulation to this distance.  This stipulation should be filed no later than 14 days from the issuance of this decision and order, determining the distance from the employee's residence to the physical therapy office on O'Malley.  We direct the parties to use that stipulation as the basis of reimbursement for travel to that clinic.  We retain jurisdiction over this issue to resolve any remaining dispute.


VI.
PENALTIES

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

   

(d)  . . . If the employer controverts the right to 
compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall 
file with the board and send to the employee a notice of 
controversion within seven days after an installment of 
compensation payable without an award is due. . . .   



(e)  If any installment of compensation payable without 
an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, 
as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to 
the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  
This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and 
in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under 
(d) of this section . . . .


Our regulations at 8 AAC 45.082(d) provides, in part:

   
Medical bills for an employee's treatment are due and payable 
within 14 days after the date the employer received the 
medical provider's bill and a completed report on form 07-
6102. . . . 



(1)
a medical bill or if the medical bill is not paid in 
full as billed, the employer shall tell the employee and 
medical provider in writing the reasons for not paying all or 
a part of the bill or the reason for delay in the payment 
within 14 days of receipt of the bill and completed report on 
form 07-6102.


Medical benefits are "compensation" for purposes of AS 23.30.155.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).  Medical benefits are due on the 14th day after the employer receives each medical bill and medical report ("Physicians Report").  8 AAC 45.082(d).  To avoid a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e), the employer must file a controversion within 21 days after receiving the disputed medical bill or bills.  


As noted earlier in this decision and order, the partial C&R bars any penalties accruing before July 1, 1997. Additionally, the employer has already voluntarily paid a penalty on a number of late medical payments.  


The employee argues he is due penalties and interest on all late and underpaid medical bills, and urges us to use the medical bill spread sheet prepared by the employee's wife to determine them.  He points out that, even when completed medical reports had not been submitted to the employer's insurer under 8 AAC 45.082(d), the employer failed to give the employee written notice within 14 days under 8 AAC 45.082(d)(1).  


The spreadsheet prepared by the employee's wife identifies numerous medical bills after July 1, 1997, which were paid later than 14 days after the employer received the billing.  Nevertheless, based on the testimony of the adjuster, Ms. Preston, and based on the documentary record provided by the employer, we find each of these bills were either controverted under AS 23.30.155(d), or delayed because either the medical records or some of the information required for the Physician Report form #07-6102 (such as a tax identification number) had not been submitted with the bill, and the insurer was trying to secure the missing information.


We have ruled in past cases that if a medical provider fails to timely supply the required medical report, the medical benefit is not due until we excuse the late reporting, as required under AS 23.30.095(c) and 8 AAC 45.085(b).  We reconfirm that interpretation of AS 23.30.095(c).  See Carney v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Co., AWCB Decision No. 94-0044 (March 3, 1994) and Kuehn v. Omega Pizza, AWCB Decision No. 90-0313 (December 31, 1990).


The employee also raised a novel argument.  He contends that, even if completed medical reports had not been submitted to the employer's insurer as required under 8 AAC 45.082(d), the employer failed to give the employee written notice within 14 days under 8 AAC 45.082(d)(1).  We find the employee is attempting to read 8 AAC 45.082(d)(1) in isolation from the rest of 8 AAC 45.082(d).  The employee's argument does not comport with the structure and meaning of the regulation.  The regulation actually explicitly conforms to the rationale of our decisions in Carney and Kuehn.  Under 8 AAC 45.082(d), no bill is due until the completed medical report is received.  Under 8 AAC 45.082(d)(1); no written notice of delay or refusal of payment is due until 14 days after the completed medical report is received by the employer.  


The employee also contends we have no proof the employer is actually paying those bills according the usual, customary, and reasonable medical fees as set out in the Medicode schedule; and he urges us to exercise our investigative powers to require an audit of the insurer.  The employee's wife clearly expended considerable effort to preparing a very large spreadsheet concerning all the employee's medical procedures, the billing and payment for those procedures, and a calculation of each claimed penalty for lateness or underpayment.  


Nevertheless, the spreadsheet does not provide the information concerning the employer's receipt of the information required on the physicians' medical reports.  Without that critical information, we cannot determine when, or even if, a given medical bill actually became due under 8 AAC 45.082(d).  Also, regrettably, the usual, customary, and reasonable medical fees were calculated by the employee's wife based on a fundamental misunderstanding of what the "90th percentile" means in 8 AAC 45.082(h)(3). 


Based on the testimony of Mr. Klim, we find the employer paid medical benefits at the usual, customary, and reasonable rate from the fee schedule developed by Medical Data Research, and later, Medicode.  Based on our review of the testimony and documentary evidence in the record, we find the remaining disputed "late-payment" medical bills were either controverted under AS 23.30.155(d) or the completed medical report required by 8 AAC 45.082(d) was not timely submitted.  Consequently, we can identify no penalties due under AS 23.30.155(e).  


VII.
INTEREST 


8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:



(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must 
be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than 
one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be 
paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, 
until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under 
an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation 
awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid 
installment of compensation.


Our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate of 10.5% per annum, as provided at AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.  See also, Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association 860 P.2d at 1191.  


Neither the employee nor the employer has clearly addressed specific claims or disputes relating to interest.  Based on the long-standing case law and the regulation cited above, we find the employee is entitled to interest from the employer on all outstanding benefits awarded by this decision, or voluntarily paid late since July 1, 1997, from the dates on which payments were due, until paid.  Any interest due on medical benefits are payable to the medical providers, unless those bills were paid by the employee.  See Manning v. Satellite Systems Unlimited, AWCB Decision No. 96-0291 (July 17, 1996); 8 AAC 45.142(b)(3)(C).


VIII. FRIVOLOUS OR UNFAIR CONTROVERSION

AS 23.30.155(o) provides:


The board shall promptly notify the division of insurance if the board determines that the employer's insurer has frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due under this chapter.  After receiving notice from the board, the division of insurance shall determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice under AS 21.36.125.


The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992) that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion under AS 23.30.155(d):  


A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect 
an employer from imposition of a penalty. . . . For a 
controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer 
must possess sufficient evidence in support of the 
controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce 
evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would 
find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Id. at 358.  


We have applied the court's reasoning from Harp, and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).  Waddell v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0095 (April 17, 1998);  Stair v. Pool Arctic Alaska Drilling, AWCB Decision No. 98-0092 (April 13, 1998).  We consistently require an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.  See, e.g., Lincoln v. TIC - The Industrial Co., AWCB Decision No. 97-0212 (October 20, 1997).


Once again, the C&R bars any findings of frivolous or unfair controversions before July 1, 1997.  Concerning those controversions after the C&R, the employer's adjuster, Ms. Preston, testified the employer controverted the employee's November 21, 1997 treatment in the Central Peninsula General Hospital on January 28, 1998, because the employee's work injury had been to the left leg, not the right leg. 


She also testified the employer controverted the home gym for physical therapy on December 19, 1997 because the same doctor was simultaneously, inconsistently, prescribing formal physical therapy in a clinic.  She requested Ms. Jacobsen to contact the doctor directly, to determine the correct course of treatment.  Dr. Dunn indicated he wanted the employee transferred to a home exercise regimen, and the employer complied with the doctor's directions. 


In each of these controversions we find the record reflects the employer had specific evidence and specific reasons for its actions.  In the case of the home gym, the employer complied with the physical therapy portion of the physician's orders and took an affirmative approach to clarify what was, on its face, a contradictory prescription.  The employer complied with the physician's request, once the prescription was clarified.  


It now appears that part of the report associated with the original billing for the employee's November 21, 1997 treatment at the Central Peninsula General Hospital contained a clerical error and an incomplete explanation of the mechanism of the injury.  On their faces, the billing and report clearly provided reasonable grounds on which to question the work-relatedness of his fall on the ice and his treatment. 


Considering this record, we cannot find the employer acted in bad faith in these matters, or that the employer frivolously or unfairly controverted these benefits under AS 23.30.155(0).  We conclude the employee's claim that the controversions were frivolous and unfair must be denied and dismissed.  


IX.
CIVIL OR CRIMINAL SANCTIONS FOR EMPLOYER FRAUD

AS 23.30.250 provides, in part:



Penalties for fraudulent or misleading acts.  (a) A person who (1) knowingly makes a false or misleading statement, representation, or submission related to a benefit under this chapter; (2) knowingly assists, abets, solicits, or conspires in making a false or misleading submission affecting the payment coverage or other benefit under this chapter; (3) knowingly misclassifies employees or engages in deceptive leasing practices for the purpose of evading full payment of workers' compensation insurance premiums; or (4) employs or contracts with a person or firm to coerce or encourage an individual to file a fraudulent compensation claim is civilly liable to a person adversely affected by the conduct, is guilty of theft by deception as defined in AS 11.46.180, and may be punished as provided by AS 11.46.120-11.46.150.


AS 23.30.255 provides, in part:



Penalties for failure to pay compensation. (a) An employer required to secure the payment of compensation under this chapter who fails to do so is guilty of a class B felony if the amount involved exceeds $25,000.00 . . . .


This employer is insured by Providence Washington.  AS 23.30.255 applies to employers which fail to secure required workers' compensation insurance, or self-insurance approval, and is inapplicable to this case.  We parenthetically note AS 23.30.255 is a criminal statute, over which we have no direct jurisdiction.  See, e.g., State v. O'Neill Investigations, Inc., 609 P.2d 520, 525 (Alaska 1980); Dayhoff v. Temsco Helicopters, Inc., 848 P.2d 1367, 1374 (Alaska 1993).  


AS 23.30.250 refers to AS 11.46.120 through 11.46.150, sections which define the monetary values triggering the application of various levels of felony or misdemeanor charges.  These range from Class B misdemeanor (11.46.150) to Class B felony (11.46.120).  These are criminal penalties and criminal sanctions.  Criminal penalties are imposed by the State and may not be prosecuted through private action as crimes.  See e.g., Doyle v. Peabody, 781 P.2d 957 (Alaska 1989).


We have consistently held we have no criminal jurisdiction; and we have expressly found that AS 23.30.250 is, at least partially, a criminal statute over which we have no jurisdiction.  See  Christie v. Rainbow King Lodge, AWCB Decision No. 94-0114 (May 12, 1994); Beaudry v. State, AWCB Decision No. 94-0290 (November 17, 1994). 


AS 23.30.250 also provides for civil liability.  Generally, an administrative agency can only adjudicate a dispute if it has been given explicit adjudicatory authority by statute.  Far North Sanitation, Inc. v. Alaska Public Utilities Commission, 825 P.2d 867, 870 (Alaska 1992); and McDaniel v. Cory, 631 P.2d 82, 88 (Alaska 1981). 


Also, the Alaska Supreme Court has recognized our equitable powers, but only as necessarily incident to the exercise of our statutory adjudicative responsibilities.  Blanas v. The Brower Co., 938 P.2d 1056, 1062 (Alaska 1997); Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing & Heating, 869 P.2d 1170, 1175 (Alaska 1994); and Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1191 (Alaska 1984).  


As discussed above, the criminal sanctions are clearly to be enforced in the Alaska state courts.  Based on the sparse, but plain, language of the statute, we find the general civil right to recovery granted in AS 23.30.250 is also a right to be pursued as a private action through the general civil suit jurisdiction of the Alaska state courts.  No unenumerated remedy or equitable power needs to be exercised by us.  Croft v. Pan Alaska Trucking, Inc., 820 P.2d 1064, 1066, 1067 (Alaska 1991).   


In this case, the employee presented no case law supporting his proposition we have authority to impose criminal sanctions or civil liability, and we note case law supporting the opposite proposition.  Based on our review of the record and the law, we find we have no authority to entertain the employee's request for imposition of liability or sanctions under AS 23.30.250 or AS 23.30.2505.  Accordingly, we deny and dismiss this claim.


IV.
ATTORNEY FEES AND LEGAL COSTS 


AS 23.30.145 provides, in part:



(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation. . . .



(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  


8 AAC 45.180 provides, in part:


(d)(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be 
verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended. . . at 
hearing the attorney may supplement the affidavit by 
testifying . . . .  If the request and affidavit are not in 
accord with this subsection, the board . . . will award the 
minimum statutory fee. . . .


(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and 
reasonable costs relating to the preparation and 
presentation


of the issues upon which the applicant 
prevailed at the 
hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement 
listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating 
that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in 
connection with the claim. 


We find the claim was resisted by the action of the employer. Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fees under subsection 145(b) for the benefits obtained.  He seeks fees for both the employee's attorney who represented him in this hearing, and for his attorney of record for all other aspects of the claim.  We find the employer liable for certain benefits in this decision.  Consequently, we can award fees and costs under subsection 145(b).  Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978).  


The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986), held that our attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  In cases such as this, where the employee prevailed on some issues, but lost on others, we must weigh the benefit of the attorney's representation.


Subsection 145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under subsection 145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  We have examined the record of this case, and the written and oral itemization of fees and costs in the employee's attorneys' various affidavits.  


We will first consider the affidavits of the employee's attorney for the hearing, Mr. Coe.  We note the employer made no objection to the reasonableness of the itemized legal fees and costs.  We find this claim was complicated, extremely confusing, and tenaciously litigated.  We note that Mr. Coe devoted an exceptional number of hours in a relatively short time to the specific preparatory tasks for the hearing, in order to permit attorney Jones to serve as a witness on the request to set aside the C&R.  We specifically find this attorney's services were invaluable in organizing the employee's case in a manner in which all the witnesses, records, arguments, and issues could be heard within the two days allocated for the hearing.  However, we find the employee prevailed on relatively few issues in this hearing.  


Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the great number of disputes addressed, as well as the benefit to the employee in the partially successful prosecution of this claim, we find one half of his claimed fee is reasonable.  We find the full claimed costs are reasonable.  We note, based on Mr. Coe's experience, the hourly rate is reasonable.  See e.g., Gertlar v. H&H Contractors, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 97-0105 (May 12, 1997).  We will award $6,046.00 in attorney and $570.00 in costs for Mr. Coe.    


The request for fees for Mr. Jones is more difficult to assess.  The employer objected to our consideration of his November 4, 1998 corrected affidavit of attorney fees.  The board chairman issued a prehearing conference order, specifically directing attorneys' fee and costs affidavits be filed and served by October 28, 1998.  This order from the prehearing conference summary was controlling for the issues and the course of the hearing.  8 AAC 45.065(c).  We note Mr. Jones signed his first fee affidavit on October 28, 1998, attesting to the accuracy of his claimed fee, and providing a listing of hours and services.  Under 8 AAC 45.065(c) we must hold Mr. Jones to the terms of our prehearing order, and to the accuracy of his original attestation as a professional attorney.  We will exclude his late-filed, altered claim for fees.  
Also, on his own motion, Mr. Jones filed a supplemental, third affidavit of fees on November 9, 1998.  This was after we had closed the record for the hearing.  Accordingly, we will not consider the November 9, 1998 affidavit as part of this hearing record.  We find we can consider his first affidavit, and the oral supplement to that affidavit, which we permitted during the course of the hearing under 8 AAC 45.180(d).  The affidavit requests no costs.


Attorney Jones' affidavit purports to cover in excess of six years' work on a multitude of issues and disputes.  We note he received attorney fees for the disputes resolved and benefits released up to July 1, 1997 in the partial C&R.  We note the employee's claim and benefits are continuing beyond this decision; and we note that only certain, specific issues are being addressed in the hearing and in this decision and order.  Accordingly, we will address only fees due as a result of the hearing and this order.


The employer has severely criticized this affidavit as undecipherable and incredible; contending the dates are scrambled, the entries are often unintelligible, many entries are not related to disputes in this case, many entries appear to refer to activities by the employee or his wife, and some entries even record work by the opposing counsel.  


We have reviewed the affidavit, and find much of the employer's criticism to be accurate.  We note that a few of the services, such as those listed under "Abate no." [sic] 16, 155, 222, and 286, may be related to the issues considered in our hearing.  Nevertheless, in our judgement, the listing is not clear enough to make a well-supported award of fees.  In the absence of sufficient information in the affidavit concerning effort spent by this attorney on the specific issues in which the employee prevailed in the hearing, we must fall back on statutory minimum fees under AS 23.30.145(a) and 8 AAC 45.180(d)(1).  We will award statutory minimum fees to attorney Jones on all benefits awarded to the employee in this decision and order.


Additionally, Mr. Jones did not serve as the representing attorney of the employee in our hearing, but as a witness for the employee concerning the C&R and the employer's resistence to all benefits.  To compensate him under these unique cicumstances, we will award his time at the hearing on the day he served as a witness, 3 hours on November 6, 1998, as a reasonable cost under AS 23.30.145(b).  We find his hourly fee of $150.00 per hour reasonable.  See e.g., Girdler v. Unisea, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 94-0124 (May 26, 1994).  

ORDER


1.  
The employee's request for PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180 from August 21, 1992 through March 23, 1998 is denied and dismissed.


2.
The employee's claim for a compensation rate adjustment under AS 23.30.220 is denied and dismissed.


3.
The employer shall pay for the employee's medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a) for his treatment at the Central Peninsula General Hospital, and related medical costs, on or about November 21, 1997.


4.
The employee's request to set aside his August 1, 1997 partial C&R is denied and dismissed.


5.
The employer shall reimburse the employee for additional medical transportation costs under 8 AAC 45.084, in accord with this decision and order.  We direct the attorneys from this hearing, Ms. Zobel and Mr. Coe, to file a stipulation between the parties no later than 14 days from the issuance of this decision, determining for purposes of reimbursement the distance from the employee's residence to the physical therapy office on O'Malley.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any dispute on this issue.


6.
The employee's claim for additional penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) is denied and dismissed.


7.
The employer shall pay the employee interest under 8 AAC 45.142, in accord with this decision and order.


8. 
The employee's claim the employer unfairly or frivolously controverted the employee's benefits under AS 23.30.155(d)&(o) is denied and dismissed.


9.
We do not have jurisdiction to award civil damages or make criminal sanctions against the employer for fraud under AS 23.30.250(a) or AS 23.30.255.



10.
The employer shall pay the employee a reasonable attorney fee under AS 23.30.145(b) of $6,046.00 for the services of Mr. Coe; and $570.00 in legal costs under AS 23.30.145(b) for the costs itemized in Mr. Coe's affidavit.  


11.
The employer shall pay the employee statutory minimum attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(a) for the services of Mr. Jones, on all benefits awarded in this decision and order.  The employer shall pay the employee $450.00 in legal costs under AS 23.30.145 for the service of Mr. Jones as a witness.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this        day of December, 1998.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



William Walters, Designated Chairman



___________________________________



John A. Abshire, Member



___________________________________



S. T. Hagedorn, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of Bruce Wayne Williams, employee / applicant; v. Patrick Abood, dba, Knik Sweeping Co., employer; and Providence Washington Insurance Co., insurer / defendants; Case No. 9218904; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this        day of December, 1998.
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Shirley DeBose, Clerk
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